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| COMMONWEALTH OF MASS CIVIL ACTION
CIVIL SERVICE COMMISSION NO. 13-1250-A
consolidated with

NQ. 13-1256-A

BOSTON POLICE DEPARTMENT }
¥s. | |

CIVIL SERVICE COMMISSION & others'
(and a consolidated ease’) '

MEMORANDUM OF DECISION AND ORDER ON
CROSS MOTIONS FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS

INTRODUCTION
These consolidated actions seek review of a debisigr.\lr‘of the Civil Service Commission

regarding termination of ten police officers based on hair tests for cocaine. The Commission

ruled that the Boston Police Department lacked just cause to terminate the officers based solely ayers
on hair tests, but that the Department nevertheless proved just cause for discharge of four of the L& HGH
-ten, Officers Thompson, Bridgeman, Bridgeforth and Guity. Before the Court are the parties' (f’; J

cross motions for judgment on the pleadings. After hearing, for the reasons that will be
explained, the Court will affirm the Commission’s decision as to each of the discharges, but

modify the Commission’s decision as to the remedy to be provided to the six officers the

' Richard Beckers, Ronnie Jones, Jacqueline McGowan, Shawn Harris, Walter Washington, and
George Downing. o '

2 Thompson v. Civil Service Commission, Suffolk Superior Court, Civil No. 13-1256.
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Commission ordered reinstated.

-

BACKGROUND

The Department first adopted a subétance abuse policy in 1986. The original policy,
c_odiﬁed as Rule 111, provided for zero-tolerance of drug use among Department persoﬁnel, with
enforcement based on random urinalysis. The Supreme .Iudicial Court’s deciéion in Guiney v.
Police, Co%nmmiamzz of. BQ&;‘an:’.é.ll.‘Mass. 3278 (1991), required the Department to abandon the
practice of réndom urinalysis, limiting authority for urine testing to instances of reasonable
suspicion.

In connection with collective bargaining beginning in 1996, the Department conducted
... extensive research.regarding hair.testing methods provided by various private companies. The
Department concluded, and apparently persuaded the union, that the proprietary mefhod offered
bya con;pauy known as Psychemedics, Iﬁo., would pfovide a reliable test of ‘Whether an officer
had ingested illicit drugs. After extensive negotiations, the Department and the union reached
agreement on a revised.version of,Rﬁle 111, which was incorporated int the collective
bargaining agreement effective as of January of 1999. The new Rule 111 included the following

provisions:

I. INTRODUCTION
The Department will not tolerate any drug or alcohol use which could affect an

Officer’s job performance. . . .

IV. PROHIBITED CONDUCT

The following conduct by swom personnel is prohibited:

A. Unauthorized use, possession, . . . of a controlled substance, illegally used

drug, . . . on Department property, on Department business, in Department

supplied vehicles, in vehicles being used for Department purposes, or dwing. «  r=
working hours; - . ‘

[



D. Possession, use, manufacture, distribution, dispensation or sale of illegally-
used drugs or controlled substances while off duty . ... .

V. TESTING

Sworn personnel of the Boston Police Department will be tested for drugs and/or alechol
" under the following circumstances:

G. Annual Drug Testing (Hair) - This provision only .applies to those bargaining
units that have agreed to such testing.

In a joint desire to achieve and maintain a work force that is 100% drug.free.and -
in further recognition that the Department has not yet achieved such goal, the
parties agree that all swom personnel shall be subject to an annual drug test to be
conducted through a fair, reasonable, and objective hair analysis testing system.
Each Officer shall submit to an annual test on or within thirty (30) calendar days
of each Officer's birthday. The Department shall schedule each examination and
so notify each Officer as far in advance as practicable. Hair testing does not
contemplate or include testing for alcohel. '

The Department agrees that it will establish and adhere to written collection and
testing procecures for hair samples. These procedures shall be fair and reasonable
so as to ensure the accuracy and integrity of the test and process, These written
procedures will be appended to this Rule and become incorporated thereto. The
union, should it so request, shall. meet with the Department in ordez.to.discuss.,
issues relative to the coliection and testing process. Nothing contained herein
alters the current policy as it relates to other drug/alcohol testing, procedures, or

. requirements.

VI CONSEQUENCES OF A POSITIVE TEST

ILLICIT DRUGS
Swom personnel who recelve a verified positive test result for illicit drugs will be

subject to termination. However, where the Officer’s only violation is a positive
test for illicit drug use and it is the Officer’s first offense, the Commissioner shall
offer voluntary submission to the following alternative program:

—up to a 45 day suspension without pay,

— execution of a Rehabilitation Agreement and submission to
treatment/rehabilitation,

— placement in an administrative position and suspension of weapon carrying
privileges upon return to work following suspension until certified by the
treatment provider to be recovering and able to safely carry weapons, and

— submission to follow-up testing as described in section V(B) above:-=
Note that failure to comply with the terims of the Rehabilitation Agreement either
during or after the suspension period would constitute a separate violation of this



policy and shall result in a recomihendation of termination.
VII. CONSEQUENCES OF VIOLATION OF THE POLICY

Any violation of the Substance Abuse Policy shall lead to disciplinary action up to
and including termination. The severity of the action chosen will depend on the

circumstances of each case. . . .

As required by Rule 111, and after consultation with the union, the Department
promulgated procedures for implementation of the hair testing pro gra, which the Department
Wivr'lcqrporated into the Rule as Appendix D. Among'the p;r'ocedures established is a soy—caﬂed “cut-
off” level designed to distinguish beﬁeen the presence of drugs in a hair sample resulting from
voluntary ingestion and the presence of drugs in a hair sample resulting from external or
environmental contamination. The procedures also include so-called "safety net" testing, such
theﬁ: an officer who fests posi‘;ive is entitled to a second tést “under the same or more. ;ﬁingent
conditions.” The procedures also provide for over_sight by the Department's Medical Review
. Officer.(MRQ), including the opportunity of an officer.who tests pasitive to meet with the MRO
to provide information that might supply an alternate medical exi)lanation. Between 1999 and
2006, the Department conducted approximately 17,000 hair drug tésts pursuant to Rﬁle 111 and
the collective bargaining agreement. Of these approximately 87-98 tests were positix;e.

Each of the ten officers involved in these consolidated cases, Preston Thompso.n, Richard
Beckers, Ronnie Jones, ] 'acqueline McGowan, Oscar Bridgeman, Shawn Harris, Walter
Washington, William Bridgeforth, George Downing, and’ Rudy Guity, tested positive for cocaine
at some tirﬁe between 2001 and 2006, In each instance, either the violation was not the officer’s
first <;r the officer refused to agree to a rehabilitation plén; acf;ordingly, pursuant-to Rule 111, the

' Department issued a notice of termination. The language of the termination notices varied



slightly, but each referred to viqlations of Department rules and policies, including “Rule 102,

§ 35 (C(;nformance to laws)” and “Rule 111 (Substance Abuse),;’ as well as “toxicology testing
which revealed positive Iévels of cocaine.” After a hearing before the Department’s disciplinary
officer, the Department terminated eacﬁ of the ten ofﬁ;sers. |

The ten officers appealed their terminations to the Commission pursuant to G. L. ¢. 3 1,

- 88-41-43, claiming.that the haizests relied on-by the Department were insufficient to prove "just
cause" for termination. The Commission consolidated the appeals, and conducted an evidentiary
hearing over eighteen days between October 21, 2010, and February 4, 2011. The Commission
received 202 exhibits, including published reports of scientific research, and heard oral testimony
from-five expert Witn.é&sesg-pasvweﬂ as from each of the officers and other.fact witnesses called by
both sides.

On February 28, 2013, the Commission issued an extraordinarﬂy éorﬁ;ﬁrehensive,
Adetailad, and thoughtful 132-page decision. The decision correctly recites the ébplicable law,
including the Department’s burden to prove just cause for termination bhy.a.preponderance,ol the_
evidence. The decision describes in fine detail, and analyzes and evaluates, all of the evidence by

. which the De];;artment attempted to meet its burden as to each officer, as well as the opposing

evidence offered by the officers. |

The Department’s primary effort to meet its burden Was_.htvi‘axddéncﬁ,.aﬂth.e.,haintest -
results. The Department’s position, in accord with Rule 111, was (ahd remains) that a positive
hair test result above the cut-off level is enough to establish conclusivély that the éfﬁcer had
ingested cocaine. fhus; the primary focus of the hearing befsr@‘-‘c'h@@Gﬁamissmﬂwas on ﬂl@m‘

reliability of the hair ‘testing performed by Psychemedics, particularly its capaéity to distinguish
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between voluntary ingesﬁon and environmental exposure. After thoroﬁgh review of the evidence
on that topié, including (;areful analysis and evaluation of the expert testimony aﬁd scientific
literature, the Commission concluded that the hair testing me"thodoiogy was not sufficiently
reliable that a positive test above the cut-off level, standing alone, in the face of the officer’s

credible denial, would suffice to establish ingestion by épreponderance of the evidence. The

oo Corpmission. commented that the hair testing program, {'is an appropriate tool.to enforce [the

substance abuse] policy,” but that “a positive hair test does not provide the 100% firefutable
evidence of drug ingestion that the BPD and (and the police union) believed it did when the
policy permitting such testing was negotiated and implemented."
.. The.Commission. found that "[h]air testing for.drugs . .. has not achieved general. .
acceptance-within the scientific or law enforcement communities.” It noted particularly that no
uniform, nationally approved standards for hair testing exist, so that positive or negative test
reports depend on different standards used by different laboratories at different times. The
Commission.further noted.that the FBI Laboratory had recently suspended, hair,testing,of law
enforcement personnel pending further study. The Commission concluded:
[Ulnder basic merit principles and "just cause" standards of the Civil Service Law
(G.L.c.31, §§1, 41-43) applicable to all tenured public employees, a BPD police
officer's hair test that is reported as positive may be used for the purpose of
determining whether or not an officer had used illicit drugs. A reported positive
test result, however,. is.not necessarily, conclusive of ingestion.and..depending.on.. . .
the preponderance of evidence in a particular case, may or may not justify
termination or other appropriate discipline of a tenured BPD officer.

Put differently, the Commission concluded, hair test results do not “meet the standard of

" reliability necessary-to-berroutinely-used- as the sole-grounds-to-termimaterartepmred public: =+

employee under just cause standards governing civil service employees under Massachusetts
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law” (emphasis in original).

The Commission did not stop the;e, however. Recognizing that “the essence™ of the |
alleged misconduct was ingestion of cocaine, not receivihg a positive hair test result, the
Commission gave the parties full opportunity to pfesent evidence, in addition to ‘the hair test
results, on the question of whether each of the ten officers had ingested cocaine. Based on the
..-evidence received, the. Commission. found that. the Depaxtm&mthad,mé.t..i.ts.‘butdenwof proofbya
preponderance of the evidence as to four of the officers, but not as to the other six. The
Commission found the following with respect to each of the individual officers in issue.

Preston Thompsomn: Thompson had a positive hair test on Ime 14,2001, at nearly three
- .. times.the cut-off level.. ’Ehe.,\test,ocourréd at a.time when he had been.on.medical.leave for
several months after having served as a dispatcher for the past eight years. A safety net fest,
taken on June 29, 2001, again showed positivé results at similar levels. Thompson did not seek
or obtain independent testing. A test conducﬁed on Thompson in 2000 had shown positive
results, but was reported.as.negative. after.a negativ-cwksafe:t,yz.rwi\,testmIhompsam. had.never worked
in the drug control unit or the evidence unit. He acknowledged having used éocainé prior to his
police career, but deniedlhaving done so at any time during his police service. In discussion with
the MRO he offered no theory of environmental exposure. Thompson declined to sign a
settlément agreement, and, was.discharged in August of 2001... iTheACQmmiSﬁionﬂmednjﬁst cause
for his discharge.

| Richard Beckers: Beckers had a positive hair test én April 2, 2002, He was not
scheduled to be tested on thatdaterbut did so-while-at -ﬁGIicé""}wadqﬁefﬁm‘s‘fm%aﬁw‘uh-erapurpose.

' The level found was such that, had the test been performed six months earlier, prior to the date -
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Psychemedics made a change in the level of one metabolite that it would treat as a positive result,
P;ychemedics would have reported the result as negative.' On April 18, 2002, immediately after
he learned that the test was positive, Beckers went to his private physician, who performed tésts
of hair, blood, and urine, with negative results.” The hearing officer gave these results “no

weight” because “the methodology used was not provided.” Beckers also had a safety net test on

e April22, 2002, with a positive result. On April 23, 2002, however, Beckers.went.to an

independent laboratory for another hair test; the laboratory sent the sample to stzchefnedics,
which processed it as an “initial screen” and reported the result as negative. Beckers had never
Worked in the drug control unit or the evidence unit, and offered the MRO no theory of

- envir@nmental_exnosure. Beckers declined fo sign a sctilement agreement, and was discharged in
August of 2002. He applied for unemployment benefits, which the Department of | Empldymen;t
and Training. (DET) granted after an evidentinry hearing. The Police Department did notl seek
judicial review of that decision.

At the hearing before the Commission, Beckers offered theories of environmental .
contamination including instruments used by his barber; a hair straightening treatment; and drug
arrests. The hearing officer found these theories “theoretically plausible,” but “not supported by
specific and scientifically sound expert testimony,” and therefore gave them no.weight. Beckers
could not recall any drug arrests, or having drugs in his cruiser in the year prior to.the 2002 test.
A test in a prior year had shown evidence of cocaine below th;: cut-off level, and accordmgly had

been reported as negative. Beckers persistently denied using cocaine or being in the presence of

ER

3Cocaine remains in hair longer than in blood or urine, so that hair tests identify usage or
_ exposture further back in time than blood or urine tests.
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its use. The hearing officer. “found no sign of prevarication that %vouid discredit this testimony,”
and treated his “pe:rsistencc at exoneration” as supporting his credibility. ]ihe Commission
concluded that the preponderance of the evidence supported Beckers’s denial of drug use, so that
the Department had not proved just cause for his discharge.

Ronnie Jones: Jones had a positive hair test on March 14, 2002, although the level found
.. was.“just. harely” above.the,cut-off, and “within 2% of being,.declaréd negative.” .Qn March 26, |
Jones had a negative urine test through his personal physician, but a safety net hair test conducted
on March 27, 2002, was positive. On that same date Jones had a hair test performed at an
independent laboratory, which sent the sample to Psychemedics; Psychemedics reported the
... result.as nf:gat_i;ﬁé.v;_.Iﬁnes,,.declined to sign a settlement agreement, and was discharged in August
of 2002. Jones sought unemplbyment benefits, which DET denied; the Appeals Court ultimately
afﬂrméd that decision.

J ones offered the MRO no specific theory of environmental exposure, but his police
career had included assignment to a unit that sufpp.orted, drugraids. He.was married.to a former
Boston Police officer who had completed a rehabilitation program aﬁer testing positive for
cocaine. He denied ingesting cocaine ér having ‘come into contact with it being consumed by
others. The hearing officer “perceive[d] no reason to doubt his te-stimonly, Whiéh largely held up
on stiff cross-examination,” and also viewed his submissiaﬁ..tg,independent hair,‘tasi,i‘pg as ..
significant to his credibility. The Commission rejected the Department’s contention that Jones’s
marriager to a known drug user was évidénce of his own use, and concluded that the Depaﬁﬁent
had not proved just cause for T c;‘nes’s dischafge.' S wams

Jacqueline MeGewan: McGowan had a hair test on August 20, 2002, which was



reported to the MRO as ﬁ)ositive on August 29, 2002, although the expert witnesses before the
hearing officer disputed Wﬂether ti‘:e results met the cut off level. McGowan had a safety n;:t test
oﬁ September 6, 20027,‘ which Psychemedics reported as negative, despite some ambiguity in the
results. A second safety net test, conducted on September 27, 2002, generated results that
Psychemedics reported as negative as to a portion of the hair sample designated as “new growth,”
- hut pesitive-asie a pertion designated.as.“‘old growth,” although the positive result depended on
a change in the cut off level that Psychemedies had recently adopted, and that changed again a
few years later. McGowan offered.the MRO no specific theory of environmental exposure. She
had not worked in the drug control unit or the evidence unit recently, although her fifteen-year
- career-had ineluded-a-six-month.stint in.the drug"c.ontrol.ﬂunit. McGowan.was discharged.on
October of 2002.

McGowan ééknowledged having used cocaine during a period between about 1997 or
1998 and September of 1999, when she had a positive hair test. On that occasion she signed a
settlement agreement, served a 45-day suspension, entered a rehébilitatio.m program,.and .. . .
submitted to random urine tests for three years, ali of which were negative. The hearing officer
found that “her candor about her prior drug history and her unflinching demeanor when affirming
her subsequent rehabilitation gave her testimony the ring of truth.” The Commission concluded
that the Department had failed to prove just cause for her discharge. by.a.preponderance of. the
evidence.

Oscar Bridgémam: Bridgeman had a positive hair test on October 2, 2002, at levels well
abov‘e ‘the cut-off. He offered the MRO no specific theory Of environmetitat exposure. “He had

never worked in the drug contro] unit or the evidence unit, although he had been assigned during

+
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the last several years of his employment to a vehicle used to transport prisoners. On October 9,
2002, Bridgeman had urine and blood tests through' his pl;ivate physician, with negative results.
However, a safety net hair test performed on October 15, 2002, again generated positive results.
He sought an independent hair test, but the independent laboratory deemed his hair too short for
testing. Bridgeman was discharged the same month. |

Bridgeman had tested positive for.cocaine in 2001, and signed a settlement.agreement,
under which he served a 45-day suspension, completed a treatment program, and was subject to -
random urine testing, with consistently negative results. In his testimony before the Comumission,
Bridgeman denied ever having used cocaine, despite his contrary admission in the seftlement
...agreementin.2001 and in treatment, as reflected in records; he attributed ﬁis.édmi.séiqn in.the
settlement agreement to “personal issues” and a desire for treatment of alcohol abuse and
depression, and dénied recollection of any statements made in treatment.

Bri&geman testified at the Commission hearing that he believed his positive tests in 2002
arose from..a habit of putting drugs confiscated from suspects in his pocket, Wher.e;,];le,;weu.}.d, also
keep cookies for snacks. The hearing officer _discredited this explanation, finding it “incredible
thét any BPD officer would be so cavalier about securing coniraband in such a manner as would
violate BPD procedures for h-andling physical evidence and could clearly compromise a criminal
investigation.” The hearing officer found it “doubly incredible” that Bﬁdgemam‘fwould petsist
in such an unprofessional practice after testing positive for cocaine in 2001 and while |
subsequenﬂy-dealing with his own admitted substance abuse issues.” | The Commission found
that “his prevarioation, taken together with his 2002 hair test results, established«--»by’- g

preponderance of evidence that he did ingest cocaine and that the BPD had just cause to

'S
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terminate his employment.”

¥

Sha;m Harris: Harris had a military background prior to his police service, and wore his
hair in a military cut. Accordingly, his test on December 4, 2002, used a sample of chest hair,
The test was reported as positive, as was a safety net test conducted on December 17, 2002, but
the results of both tests were at levels that would have been feported as negative under the
o thresholds, in.effectmatil late-2001.. Independent blood.and urine. tesfs.oo.nducted on.December
18, 2002, were negative. He attempted to obtain an independent hair test on December 19, 2002,
but the laboratory deemed the hair sample too small to test. A second effort at independent hair
testing occurred on January 2, 2003, by a different method from that used‘ by Psychomedircs; the
. reported result-was.“none.detected,” which, according to.the information.provided by the. ‘

1aboratory, could have various meanings. Harris offered no specific theory of environmental
exposure. He had never worked in the drug control unit or the evidence unit, aﬁd he made a
practice of wearing a bullet-proof T-shirt while on duty. He refused to sign a settlement”
_agreement, and was.discharged.in. April. of 2003.. . - i .

_ The hearing officer found Harris’s testimony credible, nofing that he testified “crisply and >
responsively.” The hearing officer noted his military background, which included regular urine
testing; his receipt of a prestigious statewide award; and his persistent pursuit of independent
testing. On the other.side, the hearing officer noted that.chest, hair,would. e less susceptihle,than
thead hair to external contamination, and that the positive test results were consistent with each
other. Overall, the Commissic.)n concluded, the positive test “weighed against his Acredible
testimony aﬁd consistent-denial of drug use,-asewell agthe other-evidenes-of hissexemplary »
c.haracter., faiis to establish b3; a preponderance of evidence that the BPD had just cause to.

£
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terminate his employment.”

Walter Washﬁngﬁ@m‘t: Washington, who kept. his head hair short, had a test pé:rformed on
bhest hair on September 26, 2002, with a result reported as pogitive, although the same result
would have been reported as negative under cut-off thresholds in effect until Jate 2001, and under
thresholds adopted in 2004, A safety net test, also of chest hair, was conducted on October 9,
vl 2002, and égain reported as.positive, although the resulis showed wide. Mariatiomfmﬁliha initial
test, and would have been reported as negative under thresholds in effect after 2007. Washington
obtained bIood, urine, and hair testing through his private physician on October 10, 2002. The
blood and vrine tests were negative; Pyschemedics tested the hair sample and reported it as
negative, although some evidence.af cocaine metabolites appeared. Washingion. offered no.
specific theory of environmental exposure. He had never worked in the drug control unit or the
~ evidence uﬁit. He refused to sign a settlement agreement, and was discharged in Aprﬂ of 2003.
The hearing officer characterized Washington’s test results as “a classic illustration of the effect
of the shifting landscape and a lack of uniformity in testing protocols that, in.this.case, made the
unfortunate difference between an officer’s continued employment and his termination, a result
that is unacceptable under merit principles.” The Commission found that the Department had
faile_:ci to prove just cause for his discharge.

William Bridgeforth: Bri.dgef'orth had a positive test, conducted.on,underarm, haix,.on
April 24, 2003. A safety net test, alsolon undere_m:n hair, was cbl_lducted on May 6, 2603, and was
again positive. The levels resulting from thesel tests were consistent with each other, and were
m'ofe than twice the cut off levels. A urine test conduc;ted through=Bridgefortit’s-private

physician was negative. A hair test through an independent laboratory on May 13, 2003, was
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reported as negative, although the laboratory did not disclose the specific results or cut-off ievels.r
Bridgeforth was discharged in September, 20103.

Bridgeforth did not offer the MRO any specific exposure thebry, althdugh he lived in an
épartment building where kﬁown drug users resided. He had a brief assignment to the drug
control unit in around 1990, but otherwise had worked as a patrol officer. In 2002, he had a
. positive hair test, as well as a positive independent test. At that time he signed, ars‘ettlement
agreement, accepting a 45 day suspension, rehabﬂitaﬁon, and random urine festing. st urine
tests were negative through April 2003: Bridgeforth sought and receiv.ed unemmployment benefits

after his termination in 2003; the Depéﬂment did not attend the DET hearing, and did not appéal

Cb.

... the decision.. L

Atthe hearing.before the Commission,‘Bridgéfortﬂ testified that he had never used
cocaine, and that he was “to%ally shocked” to learn of his positive tests in 2002; he ciaimed that
he had signed the settlement agreement so as to keep his job and fulfill his bbligation to support
eight children. He offered various exﬁla.nations for his positive test results based,on,powder he
had observed and smelled in his cruiser‘an-d at parties. The hearihg officer determined that this -
testimony “did not hold up on cross-examination as a likely source of external contamination.
Since he had previously tested positive, he was more aware, and said he did not ‘touch anything
he shouldn’t touc-:h or brush off anything he shouldn’t brush off.”” The hearing officer. credited
Bridgjeforth’é testimony regarding his neighbors’ use of cocaiﬁe, but weighed that testimony
against-the fact that Bridgeforth’s positive tests were perfor-meci on underm hair, a location
unlikely to be subject to envirc;rmw;ental contamination.- The hearing ofﬁcer also-weighed «

Bridgeforth’s admission after the 2002 test. Overall, the Commission concluded, the Department

3 ¥
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met its burden of proof by a preponderance of the evidence of just cause to discharge

H

Bridgeforth.

George Downing: Downing had a test of nape hair on May 7, 2003, with results just
above the cut-off levels. Downiﬁg also had a safety net test of head hair on May 16, 2003, which
Was reported positive, but similarly just above the cut-off levels. These results would have been
: reponed.as,negatixammdenaut;ofﬁIeveis;in effect in 2001. Hehad.atest.of head hainthro.pgh an
independent laboratory on May 13, 2003; the laboratory reporied the result as negative, but did
not provide specific levels or cut-off threshoids. On the same day, he had an independent hair
test through another laboratory, with the result reportéd as “none detected,” without additional
data.... .. el |

Downing offered the MRO no specific theory of environmental exposure; he had not
worked in the drug cc;ntrol unit or the evidence unit, although he had worked in an anti-crime
unit that put him in contact with persons who had outstanding Wan:ants. ‘He refused to sign a
settlement agreement,.and.was.discharged.in January of 2004.. He.successtully.applied for .
unemployment benefits, prevailing at a contested hearing before the DET and on judicial review,
inclgding ultimately in the Appeals Court. After his discharge he became employed with an
employer who provides security services under contract with the Department of Homeland
Security; in that role he.was required.to take random urine tests,.all.of which werte negative...The
Commission’s hearing officer found Downing’s testimony “candid and credib}e,” and concluded
that the Department dici not meet its burden of proving just cause for his dischar'ge.

Rudy Guity: Guity, who was bald, had a test' of beard tiair oﬁﬂprﬁﬁ‘?’;ﬁ’@@6, with ««

positive results for cocaine at levels well above the cut-off. He had a safety net test.on May 18,

+
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2006, withffesults at levels 67% higher than the initial test. He offered an expianétion to the
MRO based on anaes;hesia during dental an:d medical procedures, but the MR’O rej ected that
theory as in(.;onsistent' with the medications used for that purpose. Guity’s assignments over his
28 years as a Boston Police officer were primarily patrol. He worked in the drug control unit in
the 1990°s, bﬁt not since then, and he never worked in tﬁe evidence unit. Guity took urine and

.. blood.tests through his private medical. provider on June 1, 2006, with negative.results. (Guity
refused to sign a settlement agreement, and was discharged in March, 2007, five years before the
date when he would have been eligible for retirement.

At the Commission’s hearing, Guity offered medical records showing medications
administered to him during proeedures, but.no evidence that he had ever received.cocaine for any
medical purpose,- and no expert testimony to suggest that the medications he‘, did receive could
account for positive results on hair tests for cocaine. The hearing officer credited testimony from
the Department’s expert that the drugs administered could not resuit in a false positive test for
~ cocaine. Guity initially testified that he did not take an independent hair test, .buﬁlaterm
acknowledged that he did, with. a positive result, and that the test had “slipped his mind.” The
hearing ofﬂ(*;er observed that “the extreme degree of prevarication that Mr. Guity demonétrated
by this testimony on a key evidentiary issue imposed a moﬁal wound on his credibility.” The
Commission concluded that the Depaﬁment had proved just cause for his discharge... ..

Based on.thesc findings, the Commission dismissed the appeals of Officers Thompson,
Bridgeman, Bridgeforth, and Guity.- It tﬁen turned to the remedy to be ordered for Officers - |
Beckers, Jones, McGowan, Harris, Washington,‘ and Downing. The Comm'is’sion-«acknowledged

the statutory directive that an employee who has been terminated without just cause “be returned
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to his position without Joss of compensation or other rights.” G. L.c. 31, § 43. Nevertheless,
the Commission ordered their reinstatément with back-pay aﬁd benefits not to the date when ea{ch
was terminated, but to October 21, 2010, the date when the eQidentiary hearing began. The
Commission’é rationale for this ruling, although perhaps Jess than expliciily stated, appears to be
that the officers bore primary responsibility for the substantial delay in‘ the proceedings, much of
_which.resulted. from. related Jitigation in federal court bronght by some of these and other
officers.
The Department and all ten officers brought these chsolidéted actions for judicial
review. The Department contends that the Commission substituted its judgment for that of the
: .Department,bigmrad;th& collective bargaining agreement, gave insufﬁcic—:ﬁ wel ghf to evidence of
the reliability of the hair testing, and failed to apply the preponderance O.f the evidence standard.
" As for the officers, the four whose appeals were dismissed contend that the C(;mrﬁission lacked
-authority to act on any ground other than the failed hair tests, since the notices provided to them
. cited only that;gr@und}thay. further argﬁe that the Commissions. findings of just canse.are.not
supported by substantial evidence. The other four officers argue that the Commission’s finding
of lack of just cause for their discharge entitles each of them to reinstatement with full back-pay
and benefits back to the date of discharge.
"DISCUSSION
A "party aggrieved by a decision of the [Clommission may obtain judicial review in
Superior Court" as prescribed by G. L. c. 30A, § 14. T'Leo'minsz‘er V. Srrérrovz, 58 Mass. App. Ct.
726, 728A (2003); see G L. c:31;-§ 44, Pursuant to G. L.‘Gf"g'@if’r;‘-‘@’ 14(7),a court nray affirmy
reverse, remand, or mo&ify the Com;hission’sdecision if "the substantial rights {:;f any party may
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have been prejudicéd" because the decision was based on an error of law or unlawful procedure,
was arbitrary and capricious, was unwarranted by _factg found by the Commission, or was
unsupported by substantial evidence. G. L. c. 304, § 14(7). In reviewing the Commission's
decision, the Court must give “due weight to the experience, technical competence, aﬁd
specialized knowledge of the agency, as well as to the discretionary authority conferred upon it.”
. dd. The Court “is . . . bound to accept the findings of fact of the [Clommission's.hearing.officer,
if supported by substantial evidence.” Siraffon, 58 Mass. App. Ct. at 728. “The open question
on judicial review is whether, taking the facts as found, the action of the [CJommission was
legally tenable,” id., and suppoﬁed by substantial evidence, defined as “such evidence as a
i_easoqable mina,might=ap,cept as adaqﬁate to support the agency;s conclusion.”. Id.; Seagram
Distillers C;). v. Alcoholic Beverages Control Comm ’ﬁ, 401 Mass. 713, 721 (1988). "This
standard of review is highly déferential to the agency on questions of fact and reasonable
in_ferences drawn therefrom.” Police Dep't of Bos. v. Kavaleski, 463 Mass. 680, 689 (2012),
quoting Brackett v. Civil Serv. Comm'n, 447 Mass. 233, 242 (2Q06)... The.Cowrf.may.not... ..
“substitute ifs judgment for that of the [C]ommis;ion.” Thomas v. Civil Serv. Comm'n, 48 Mass.
App. Ct. 446, 451 (2000). “[A]ssessing the credibility of witnesses is alpreserve of the finder of
fact upon which a court conducting judicial review treads with great reluctance.” Strarfon, 58
Mass. App. Ct. at 729.

A tenured civil service employee aggrieved by a discipﬁnary decision of an appointing
~authority (here, tﬁe Department) made pursuant to G. L. ¢. 31, § 41, may appeal to the
Commission under G..Log: 231, § 43w See G. L. ¢. 31, §-4d-Stratten58Massy Appr-Cis at 727.
“It 1s the duty of the [Cjommission to de£enninej applying a ‘preponderance of the evidence’

#
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criterion, whether ‘there was just cause’ for the action taken.” Straifon, 58 Mass. App. Ct. at

727, quoting GL.c3 1, § 43. As the statute more fully articulates:
If the commission by a preponderance of the evidence determines that there was
just cause for an action taken dgainst such person it shall affirm tHe action of the
appointing authority, otherwise it shall reverse such action and the person
concerned shall be returned to his position without loss of compensation or other
rights; provided, however, if the employee, by a preponderance of evidence,
establishes that said action was based upon harmful error in the application of the
appointing authority's procedure, an error of law, or upon any factor or conduct on
the part of the employee not reasonably related to the fitness of the employee to
perform in his position, said action shall not be sustained and the person shall be
returned to his position without loss of compensation or other rights. The
commission may also modify any penalty imposed by the appointing authority.

To determine wl1¢ther there was qu't cause for an employer’s discharge of an employee,

_ "the appropriate inquiry is whether the employee has been guilty of substantial misconduct which
adversely affects the public irﬁ:erest by impairing the efﬂciez.lcy‘of the public service.”. Murrayv.

| Second Dist” Ct. of E Middlesex, 389 Mass. 508, 514 ( ‘1983). "The terrd Juist cause” must b.e
construed in light of the purpose of the civil service legislation which . . . is 'to free public
servants from political pressure and arbitrary separation . . . but not to prevent the 1'emofa1 of
those who have proved to be incompetent or unworthy to continue in the public service.“‘ School
Comm. of Brockton v. Civil Serv. Comm'n, 43 Mass. App. Ct. 486, 488 (1997), quoting Cullen v.
Mayor of Newton, 308 Mass. 578 , 581 (1941). A proposition is proved by a preponderance of‘
the evidence if "it is made to appear more likely or probable in the sensg that actual belief in its
truth, derived from the evidence, exists in the mind or minds of the tribunal notwithstanding any
doubts that may still lir;ger there.". Tucker v. Pearlstein, 334 Mass. 33, 35-36 (-1 956). .

In coﬁducting its review, the Commission..l!:does not view a snapshet-ef what.was before

the appointinglauthority ... [but rather] hears evidence and finds facts aniew." Stratton, 58 Mass.

1
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App. Ct. at 727. The Commission conducts "y heariﬁg de novo upon ail material evidence," and
is n.ot limited to "that which waé before the appoiﬁting officer." Id., quoting Sullivaﬂ V. 4
Municipal Ct. of the Roxbury Dist., 322 Mass, 566, 572 (1948). The question before the
Commission is "not whether it would have acted as the appointing authority had acted, but
whether, on the facts found by the [Cjomumission, there was [just causé] for the action taken by
the appointing authority in the circumstances found by, the [Clommission to have existed when
the appointing authority made its decision." Watertown v. Arria, 16 Mass. App. Ct. 331, 334
(1983).

1. The Department’s Appeal.

The Department’s primary argument is that the Commission etred in concluding that
positive hair tests, standing alone, were insufﬁcient to establish just cause to discharge the
officers.” Unde-r fie prepondérance of the evidence standard, the D’épartﬁlent argues, it had only .
to show that it was more likely than not that the officers had used cocaine. The hair tests, it
_ contend_s, even if Jess than one hundred percent reliable, were sufficient to meet that standard.
Moreover, the Department argues, the collective bargaining agreement expressly agthori;zes
discharge based on hair tests. The Commission, the Department contends, identified no direct
conflict between the collective bargaining agreement and the governing statufe, but nevertheless
ignored the collective bargaining agreement, instead applying its own view of just cause. In so
doing, the Department argues, the Commission impermissibly substituted its judgment for that of
the Department as the éppointing eiuthority.

- The Court is not persuaded. The Commission’s decision Jeaves no room for doubt-that it

~recognized and applied the preponderance of the evidence standard. It did not decide any of the
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appeals before it based solely on rejection of evidence ofa positive hair test standing alone; hair
test results did not stand alone in aﬁy of the instaj;zces before the Commission. Rather, each of
the officers denied use of cocaine. The Commission was thus called upon to consider whether
the hair test anpe was sufficient to outweigh. the officer’s denial, so as to meet the Department’s
burden to prove misconduct by a preponderance of the evidence. The Commission properly
__ recognized that, if the scientific basis for the hair test were so well-grounded that its results
would be unimpeachable in every instance, then a positive hair test would necessarily Aoutweigh
any other evidence. But if the scientific basis for the hair test was not so well-grounded — that is,
if the hair test was subject to false positive results in some significant percentage of instances —
_ then the hair test could not by itself carry the Department’s burden in thg face of an officer’s
credibie denial. In such instances, evaluation of the preponderance of the evidence would have
basis for hair testing was not so well-grounded. The Commission’s conclusion in this regard was
fully supported by its evaluation of the evidence before it, including jts credibility. judgments.of
the expért testimony. The Court is not in alposition to secoﬁd—guess the Commission’s judgment
in this regard. See Kavalesk@, 463 Mass. at 689; Stratton, 58 Mass. App. Ct. at 728.*

The Department’s relialice on the collective bargaining agreement is similarly
unpersuasive. As the Department points out, the collective barggining agreement incorporates

Rule 111, which authorizes termination of an officer based solely on a positive hair test. But the

* The Department argues that the Commission disregarded various arbitration and court decisions
upholding discharges based on hair testing. Nomne of the cited decisions establishes any binding
authority, nor did any occur-in the context of application of the'fust catse requirement under’the
civil service law, after full examination of the scientific evidence on the question of whether haix
testing reliably distinguishes between ingestion and external contamination.

5
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“urion had no authority to waive by contract the right of each ofﬁcez to be protected from
teminatibn without just cause. “Where a conflict has existed between the terms of a collective
bargaining agreement and a statute concerning terms and conditions of employment, the statute
has prevailed.” Local 1652, Int'l Ass'n of Firefighters v. Frémingham, 442 Mass. 463, 476
(2004); see Fall River v. AFSCME Council 93, Local 3177, AFL-CIO, 61 Mass. App. Ct. 404,

‘ 406 (2004) (“[tThe civil service law is not one of the statutes . . . which may Be ‘superseded by a

. collective bargaining agreement’”). |

Contrary to the Department’s contention, the Commission’s decision does identify a
direct conflict between the collective bargaining agreement and the civil service law. The
~ agreement allows termination for a positive hair test standing alone, even where the test result

~may. not reflect actual ﬁiisconduct. Thé civil service law, G. L. ¢. 31, §§ 41, 43, in contrast,

" permits terffiihatibii"onlj‘f’"for just cause.” The 's’fé‘tﬁté thus supercedes the colléétive Bargaining
agreement, and the Commission properly applied the standard required by statute. -See Fall

River, 61 Mass. App. Ct. at 406.

In doing so the Commission did not, as the Department suggests, usurp the authority of
the appointing authority; rathez, it performed its statutory function of protecting public employees
from termination without just cause. See Bos. Police Dep't v. Collins, 48 Mass. App. Ct. 408,
411 (2000) ("The role of the [Clommission was to determine whether the [Dlepartment proved,
by a preponderance.of evidénce, just cause for the action taken”). The Department emphasizes
the spebial importance to thé public of police discipline, particularly in the context of alleged
substance abuse. See.id.at 413 (2000); Arria, 16¢Mass-.e.‘App. Ct. at 335-336.-Butnething inthe
Commission’s decision prevents the Department frém enforcing its policy of zero tolerance for
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substance abuse, as long as it does so based on reliable evidence that such conduct has actually

£ b1

occurred.

The Department further argues that the Commission’s findings as to each of the six
officers to whom it granted relief lack substantial evidence. The Cour‘; has carefully examined
the Department’s arguments in this regard. It is sufficient to say that they rest on disagreements -
~ with th¢ Commission’s evaluation of the credibility and weight to be given to particular aspects

of the evidence. Such arguments do not meet the standard for judicial review pursuant to

G. L. c. 304, § 14(7).

2. The Officers’ Appeal.

The issues raised by the ten officers fall into two categories, based on the Commission’s
dispositions: The four officers whose abpeals the Commission dismissed argue that the
further, that the Commission’s findings as to each of them lack substantial evidence. The six
ofﬁcers to whom the Commission granted relief argue that they are, Ql_}‘giﬂed to reinstatement. with
full back pay and benefits as of the date -of each officer’s termination. The Court rejects th¢
arguments of the four, but agrees with the six regarding the relief required.

The four officers argue that the Commission is constrained by the notice of temlin_ation
each received from the Department, and that those notices advised them of tennination based
- solely on their positive hair tests, not on any other ground. Thus, the argﬁment goes, once the
Commission found that the hair tests alone Were msufficient to establish just cause, it was
obligated to grant relief; it had.no.basis to take evidence and.make.findings asto-whether the.
ofﬁcers had~ actually ing¢sted cocaine,

F
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It is true that “to show just cause, the appointing authoﬁty can rely only on those reasons
... thatit gave to the employee in writingf” Gloucester v. Civil Serv. Comm'n, 408 Mass. 292,
297 (1990). “[A] decision of the {Clommission is not justified if it is not based on the reasons
specified in the charges brought by the appointing authority.” Murray, 389 Mass. at 516. The
purpose of requiring the appointing authority to specify the reasons for its actions in writing is

“to enable the removed officer or employee to know why he has been deemed unworthy to
continue longer in the public service.” McKenna v. White, 287 Mass. 495, 498 (1934). .

As set forth supra, the noticés the Department provided to each officer referred to
Vioiatiqns of Departm.ent rules and policies, including “Rule 102, § 35 (Conformance to laws),”
and “Rule 111 (Substange Abusej,” as well as “toxicology testing which revéaled posifive levels
éf_cocaine.” Rule 111, as recited supra, does more than establish the testing procedure; it

" affirmatively prohibits “[p]ossession, use, manufacture, distribution, Eifé})en'satitiﬁ .o‘r safe of”
illegally-used drugs or controlled substances.” A reasonable reader of these notices would have
understood that he or she was alleged to have violated this prohibition, and to have violated the
Iaw. That information, along with the positive hair test results for cocaine, couid havé left no
doubt in the minds of the officers that the misconduct alleged was ingestion of cocaine, with the
positive hair test demonstrating that conduct. The Court concludes, therefore, that the
Commission was well within its authority to make a de novo determination whether each officer
had committed the aileged misconduct. |

The four officers as to whom the Corhmission found just cause make arguments regarding

the Commission’s particular findings as to. each.of them that largely. c‘@mes-—p@ﬁd-t@--%h@ .

Department’s arguments regarding the other six officers. Giving the required deference to the

£y
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Commission’.s evaluation of the credibility and weight of the evidence, the Court must reject
thcfse contentions. These officers offer one additional argufnent; they suggest that the
Commission improperly treated its adverse evaluation of their credibility as affirmative evidence
against them. This contention, in the Court’s view, misreads the Commission’s decision. The
Commission did not conclude that the hair tests supplied no evidence; its conclusion, rather, was
 that hair tests alone were not sufficiently reliable to outweigh a credible denial. As to those
officers whose denials the Commission did not credit, the evidence consisted of the hair tests,
along with whatever other circumstances might support inferences one way or the other. Among
those circumstances, as to these four officers, were their decisions to give inconsistent,
implausible, or otherwise incredible testimony. The Court concludes, as to each of these officers,
that the Commiséion’s findings were; supported by substantial evidence. |

As to thé six officers who @revaile&"before the C8nimission, however, thestatute
expressly dictates thewltelile;f required. General Laws c. 31, § 43, provides that if the Commission
determines that the appointing auth_prify has failed to prove just cause for its action, the -
Commission “shall reverse such action and the person concerned shall be returned to his position
without loss of compensation or other rights . . . .;’ ‘;‘Where the language of a statute is clear,
courts must give effect to its plain and ordinary meaning and the courts need not look beyond the
words of the statute itself.”” leord v. Boyd, 434 Mass. 754, 756 (2001), quoting Massachusetts
Broken Stone Co. v. Weston, 430 Mass. 6375 640 (2000). The woxrd “shall” indicates a clear
legislative intent that fhe Commission retuim the employee “fo his position Wifhout foss of
c;,ompensation or other rights.”. See Garrison v. Merced,33.Mass..App. Ct. 116,.1.18. (‘\.,1992)&.»*

(“The distinction between words of conyxmand and words of discretion, such as ‘shall” and ‘may’
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havé been éarefuily observed in our statutes™). The Commission had no discretion to do other
than \lwha;[ the statu'te ;equires, regardless 6f its evaluation of the equities ari’sing from the delay in
its proceeding;s; | |

The Department éuggests that the Commission’s order was an exercise of its authority to
“modify any penalty imposed by the appointing au’th'ority;” G. L.c. 31, § 43. Butthe
Commission ruled that no just causé existed for any penalty against these officers; thus there
could be no penalty to modify. The Court concludeé, therefore, that Officers Beckers, Jones,
McGowan, Harris, Washington, and Downing are entitled to reinstatement, with full back-pay
and benefits, as of the date of each officer’s discharge.

CONCLUSION ARND QRDER

For the reasons stated, the Plaintiff Boston Police Department's Motion for Judgment on
thé Pleadings is D‘ENT&IEB‘,‘"’&I‘L&"’[EE"Défendant Boston Polit;,e Officers' Motish for Nidéthent on
the Pleadings is ALLOWED in part and DENIED in part. The Court orders entry of
JUDGMENT that the Civil Sefvice Commission's decision is AFFIRMED in all respegcts,
'except és to the remedy afforded to Officers Beckers, Jones, McGowag, Harris, Washington, and
Dovming, which is modified such that the Boston Police Department is ORDERED to reinstate

those officers with full back-pay and benefits as of the date of each officer’s discharge.

\ PR ,// ) /
/?-ér_cfé,z/?-& Sz loti Cah Ard—
/Judith Fabricant

(/Tustice of the Superior Court

October {, 2014

26 : (s




